2010

Lewis J. Pintar and Afton B. Pintar v. Martin Houck,
Darlene Houck, Susan Morgan, County of Utah :
Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3(2)(j) (2002).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue #1

(a) Did the Trial Court properly rule that Susan Morgan, a Deputy in the Utah County Sheriff's Department (hereinafter "Deputy Morgan"), is not a policymaker for Utah County and therefore liability cannot attach to Utah County?

(b) The standard of review for this Court is to consider the Trial Court's interpretation of the law for correctness. *State v. Richardson*, 843 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah 1992). "Questions of common law interpretation are questions of law which the appellate court is well suited to address, and thus give no deference to the lower court." *Trujillo v. Jenkins*, 840 P.2d 777, 778-79 (Utah 1992).

(c) The Pintars preserved this issue for appeal in the Trial Court. R. 137-40, 1292.

Issue #2

(a) In considering the Utah County Defendants' Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, did the Trial Court properly not consider certain facts plead by the Pintars as true, including, but not limited to, the allegations made by Appellees, Martin Houck and Darlene Houck

(hereinafter “Houcks”) to Deputy Morgan that, even if true, did not constitute a crime under Utah law?

(b) In considering a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court must accept all factual allegations in the Complaint as true and consider them and all reasonable inferences drawn from them in the light most favorable to the Pintars as the non-moving party. *Whipple v. American Fork Irrigation Company*, 910 P.2d 1218, 1219 (Utah 1996); *Russell v. Standard Corp.*, 898 P.2d 263, 264 (Utah 1995) *citing* *Colman v. Utah State Land Bd.*, 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990); *Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co.*, 779 P.2d 668, 669 (Utah 1989); *Mackey v. Cannon*, 996 P.2d 1081, 1082 (Utah 2000); *Cruz v. Middlekauff Lincoln-Mercury, Inc.*, 909 P.2d 1241, 1253 (Utah 1996).

(c) The Pintars preserved this issue for appeal in the Trial Court. R. 4-5, 818, 829-30, 854, 862, 947-50, 956, 970, 980, 983, 985, 987, 992, 1135, 1292.

Issue #3

(a) Did the Trial Court err in finding that Deputy Morgan is protected by qualified immunity and therefore shielded from liability against the Pintars’ Second and Third Causes of action for Conspiracy and Malicious Prosecution pursuant to Title 42 U.S.C. §1983?

(b) The standard of review for **Issue #3** is identical to that of **Issue #1**, *supra* (this Court is to consider the Trial Court's interpretation of the law for correctness).

(c) The Pintars preserved this issue for appeal in the Trial Court. R. 4-5, 141-45, 1292.

Issue #4

(a) Did the Trial Court abuse its discretion in denying the Pintars' Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint?

(b) The Trial Court abuses its discretion if there is "no reasonable basis for the decision." *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 860 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1993).

(c) The Pintars preserved this issue for appeal in the Trial Court. R. 357-59, 486-88, 1295.

Issue #5

(a) Did the Trial Court properly rule as a matter of law it cannot grant the declaratory relief the Pintars are requesting in their first cause of action?

(b) The standard of review for **Issue #5** is identical to that of **Issue #1**, *supra* (this Court is to consider the Trial Court's interpretation of the law for correctness).

(c) The Pintars preserved this issue for appeal in the Trial Court. R. 2-3, 812-14, 823-27, 1293-94.

Issue #6

(a) In considering the Houcks' Motion for Summary Judgment, did the Trial Court properly not consider certain facts plead by the Pintars as true, including, but not limited to, the allegations made by the Houcks to Deputy Morgan that, even if true, did not constitute a crime under Utah law?

(b) In considering a motion for summary judgment and determining whether there are any genuine issues of material fact for a trier-of-fact to decide, the Court must construe all facts and reasonable inferences from those facts in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Winegar v. Froerer Corp.*, 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991); *Allen v. Ortez*, 802 P.2d 1307, 1309 (Utah 1990).

(c) The Pintars preserved this issue for appeal in the Trial Court. R. 4, 5, 818, 829-30, 854, 862, 947-50, 956, 970, 980, 983, 985, 987, 992, 1135, 1294.

Issue #7

(a) Did the trial court properly find that as a matter of law, there are no triable issues of fact regarding the Pintars' Second Cause of Action for Malicious Prosecution pursuant to Title 42 U.S.C. §1983, Third Cause of Action for Civil Conspiracy pursuant to Title 42 U.S.C. §1983, and Civil Conspiracy pursuant to state law?

(b) The standard of review for **Issue #7** is identical to that of **Issue #1**, *supra* (this Court is to consider the Trial Court's interpretation of the law for correctness).

(c) The Pintars preserved this issue for appeal in the Trial Court. R. 828-37, 1294.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

I. Utah Criminal Code §76-9-102 states:

(1) A person is guilty of disorderly conduct if:

(a) he refuses to comply with the lawful order of the police to move from a public place, or knowingly creates a hazardous or physically offensive, by any act which serves no legitimate purpose; or

(b) intending to cause public inconvenience, annoyance, or alarm, or recklessly creating a risk thereof, he;

(i) engages in fighting or in violent, tumultuous, or threatening behavior;

(ii) makes unreasonable noises in a public place;

(iii) makes unreasonable noises in a private place which can be heard in a public place;

(iv) obstructs vehicular or pedestrian traffic.

II. Utah Code Ann. §17-22-2 states in pertinent part:

Sheriff – General Duties.

(1) The Sheriff shall . . . (b) make all lawful arrests

III. Utah Code Ann. §77-7-2 states in pertinent part:

A peace officer may make an arrest under authority of a warrant or may, without warrant, arrest a person:

(3) when the peace officer has reasonable cause to believe the person has committed a public offense. . . .

IV. Rule 15(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states:

A party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case and Course of the Proceedings

On November 1, 2007, Appellants, Lewis J. Pintar and Afton B. Pintar (hereinafter “Pintars”) filed a Complaint and Jury Demand in the Fourth District Court in Provo, Utah naming Martin Houck, Darlene Houck, Tony Houck, Susan Morgan, Kay Bryson, and Timothy Barnes as Defendants. R. 1. On February 14, 2008, the Pintars amended their Complaint to replace “DOE Defendant 1” with Utah County. R. 13-14. Along with general allegations, the Pintars alleged eleven causes of action in their Complaint. R. 1-12. The First Cause of Action is the Pintars’ request for Declaratory Relief as to Defendants, Martin Houck and Darlene Houck, regarding the Pintars’ rights and responsibilities as to the irrigation of their agricultural land. R. 6-7. The Second and Third Causes of Action—Malicious Prosecution and Conspiracy—are as to all Defendants pursuant to U.S.C. Title 42 §1983. R. 7-8. The Fourth through Seventh Causes of action—

Civil Conspiracy, Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, Defamation—are state law claims as to all Defendants. R. 8-10. The Eighth and Ninth Causes of Action –Negligent Misrepresentation and Intentional Misrepresentation—are state law claims as to Defendants Martin Houck, Darlene Houck and Susan Morgan. R. 10-11. The Tenth and Eleventh Causes of Action (misabeled as the Eighth and Ninth Causes of Action)—Negligent Misrepresentation and Intentional Misrepresentation—are as to Defendants Martin Houck and Darlene Houck. R. 11-12.

On March 24, 2008, counsel for Defendants Tonya Houck, Susan Morgan, Kay Bryson, Timothy Barnes and Utah County (the “Utah County Defendants”) filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. R. 66. Counsel on behalf of the same Defendants also filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. R. 46. Counsel on behalf of the same Defendants filed a third Motion to Bifurcate the case regarding the “Utah County Defendants from Defendants, Martin and Darlene Houck. R. 82-89. The Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) was as to the Pintars’ causes of action pursuant to U.S.C. Title 42 §1983. R. 66-81. The Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1) was as to the Pintars’ causes of action pursuant to state law claims. R. 46-65. Defendants Martin Houck and Darlene Houck did not join the Utah County Defendants in these Motions. Defendants Kay Bryson and

Timothy Barnes were dismissed without prejudice by stipulation filed by the parties on May 27, 2008. R. 158-60.

On August 20, 2008, the Fourth District Court, the Hon. Gary D. Stott presiding, issued a Memorandum Decision granting both of the Utah County Defendants' motions to dismiss, and the Court dismissed the Utah County Defendants from the case. R. 194-212. The Court further ruled that since the Utah County Defendants' motions to dismiss were granted, their Motion to Bifurcate was moot. R. 210. On September 10, 2008, the decision of the Court to dismiss the Utah County Defendants was memorialized as an Order of the Court. R. 213-220. On October 7, 2008, the Pintars filed a Notice of Appeal of the Court's decision regarding the 12(b)(6) motion for the claims pursuant to U.S.C. Title 42 §1983. R. 221-24. However, this Court dismissed the Notice of Appeal without prejudice to re-file pursuant to the Utah County Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition. R. 299-302. This Court based its decision on the fact that all claims against all Defendants had not been adjudicated (Defendants Martin and Darlene Houck remained in the case) and the order of the Court had not been properly certified as a final order pursuant to Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. R. 299-302.

After the Utah County Defendants were dismissed, the Pintars and Defendants Martin and Darlene Houck entered into a Stipulated Case Management

Order which was filed with the Trial Court on April 27, 2009. R. 324-27. The parties subsequently filed an Amended Stipulated Case Management Order which was filed with the Court on August 4, 2009. R. 329-31. Pursuant to the Amended Stipulated Case Management Order, the parties agreed to a deadline to amend the pleadings of October 31, 2009. R. 330. On October 20, 2009, the Pintars filed a Motion for Leave to File a Second Amended Complaint.¹ R. 332-69. On January 19, 2010, Fourth District Court, the Hon. David N. Mortensen presiding, denied the Pintars' Motion for Leave to File a Second Amended Complaint. R. 789, 1295.

Also on January 19, 2010, Defendants Martin and Darlene Houck filed a Motion for Summary Judgment as to all of the remaining causes of action against them. R. 623-788. On May 7, 2010, the Fourth District Court, the Hon. David N. Mortensen presiding, issued a memorandum decision granting the Houck Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed them from the case. R. 1248-75. The Memorandum Decision was memorialized by written Order filed on June 14, 2010. R. 1289-91.

The Pintars filed Notice of Appeal on May 28, 2010. R. 1278-81. In their Notice of Appeal and subsequent Docketing Statement filed on June 18, 2010, the Pintars state that they are appealing the following issues:

¹ The Pintars' First Amended Complaint was simply replacing the name of "DOE Defendant 1" with Utah County. This was done prior to service of the Complaint. There were no substantive changes to the complaint with this amendment.

(1) The Memorandum Decision dated August 20, 2008 and subsequent Order dated September 10, 2008 dismissing the Second and Third Causes of Action for Civil Conspiracy and Malicious Prosecution pursuant to U.S.C. Title 42 §1983 against Defendants Deputy Susan Morgan and Utah County;

(2) The Order denying the Pintars leave to file their Second Amended Complaint issued from the bench on January 19, 2010;

(3) The Memorandum Decision dated May 7, 2010 and subsequent Order dated June 14, 2010, granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant Martin Houck and Defendant Darlene Houck as to all causes of action. The Pintars appealed as to the First Cause of Action (Declaratory Relief), Second Cause of Action (Civil Conspiracy pursuant to U.S.C. Title 42 §1983), Third Cause of Action (Malicious Prosecution pursuant to U.S.C. Title 42 §1983), Fourth Cause of Action (Civil Conspiracy), Fifth Cause of Action (Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress), Sixth Cause of Action (Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, and Seventh Cause of Action (Defamation).

The Pintars hereby waive appeal as to the Fifth Cause of Action (Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress), Sixth Cause of Action (Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, and Seventh Cause of Action (Defamation).

Statement of Facts

1. The Pintars are husband and wife and residents on agricultural property located in and around 4808 South 1850 West, Spanish Fork, Utah. Appellees Martin Houck and Darlene Houck (hereinafter “Houcks”) are husband and wife and residents on agricultural property located in and around 2015 West 4780 South, Spanish Fork, Utah. R. 1, 812.

2. The Plaintiffs and the Houcks share a common boundary between their property—the western boundary for Plaintiffs and the eastern boundary for the Houcks. R. 2, 812, 851, 859.

3. Plaintiffs have lived on their property since on or about 1977. R. 813, 850, 858. Plaintiffs are informed and believe that their property was owned by direct ancestors of Plaintiff, Afton B. Pintar, going back to at least the 1930s. R. 813, 851, 859.

4. The Houcks purchased the property that they own, which is the subject property herein, in 1991. R. 813, 851, 859, 1068, 1082.

5. The Pintars have irrigated their property in the same manner since about 1977. Prior to that, the Pintars are informed and believe that their ancestors irrigated the property in the same manner. R. 851, 859.

6. The Houck property is lower in elevation than the Pintar property. R. 813, 851, 859.

7. The irrigation water on both properties flows from south to north. R. 814, 851, 859, 1070.

8. There were no improvements on the Houck property prior to 1991. R. 814, 851, 859, 1069.

9. The Houcks constructed their home and improvements on their property on the north end despite the fact that is where the water flowed. R. 814, 851, 859, 1070.

10. On July 8, 2004, the Houcks sent correspondence to the Pintars threatening “further action” if the Pintars did not take care of “their” flooding problem. R. 814, 851, 859, 1095

11. The Pintars subsequently went to the Houcks’ home in July, 2004, to discuss the matter with them in an effort to resolve it. They spoke with Darlene Houck, who has subsequently stated repeatedly throughout this matter that the Pintars were threatening to her and used profanity at her when the Pintars discussed the matter with her—an accusation that the Pintars have denied. R. 814-15, 851-52, 859-60, 1084-90, 1106, 1110.

12. The Pintars denied that the flooding, if any, was the result of their doing anything improper. R. 3, 815.

13. Since the conversation on or about July, 2004, with regard to the Houcks' correspondence, Lewis J. Pintar, has had no direct contact with the Houcks, and Plaintiff, Afton B. Pintar, has only had direct contact on two occasions when Plaintiffs' cows got out of their property. R. 815, 852, 860.

14. There has been great hostility exhibited by the Houcks toward the Pintars over the years, including contacting the Utah County Sheriff's Department at least six times regarding Plaintiffs. R. 819-22, 855-56, 863-65, 1071-74, 1096-1115, 1130.

15. On May 12, 2006, Martin Houck sped his truck onto property which was owned by Afton B. Pintar and yelled and cursed at Afton B. Pintar who was there tending her grandchildren, one of whom, a minor, was present. Martin Houck, angrily accused Afton B. Pintar of stealing his irrigation water, which was false, in front of her grandchild, a minor. Actually, Martin Houck had forgotten to pull the dam out of the ditch to let the irrigation water through to his property. Nicholas Pintar, the son of Lewis J. Pintar and Afton B. Pintar, who was present on the property, heard the commotion caused by Martin Houck and verbally confronted him regarding the situation and Martin Houck left the property. R. 815-16, 847-48, 853.

16. The Houcks contacted the Sheriff's Department on May 12, 2006. At that time, and all times relevant herein, the Houcks' daughter-in-law, Tonya Houck, was employed at the Utah County Sheriff's Office. R. 3, 816, 818-19, 848, 944, 1116-18

17. The Houcks called their daughter-in-law, Tonya Houck, regarding the Pintars on May 12, 2006, the same day they called the Utah County Sheriff's Department regarding the Pintars. R. 819, 1048.

18. When the Sheriff's Officer, Deputy Susan Morgan (hereinafter "Deputy Morgan") responded in person at the Houcks' residence, they told her that their daughter-in-law, Tonya Houck, worked at the same Utah County Sheriff's Office. R. 818-19, 834, 854, 862, 929, 1018, 1294.

19. Lewis J. Pintar was not present during the incident on May 12, 2006. Despite this, the Houcks had contacted the Utah County Sheriff's Department regarding Lewis J. Pintar even though the confrontation was between Martin Houck and Nicholas Pintar. R. 816-17, 861, 1078, 1092-1093, 1116-18.

20. That same day Deputy Morgan went to the Pintar property and rudely confronted Afton B. Pintar in a threatening manner. Deputy Morgan threatened Afton B. Pintar with criminal sanctions if Lewis J. Pintar had any further contact with the Houcks. When Afton B. Pintar told Deputy Morgan that Lewis J. Pintar was not present earlier that day and had nothing to do with the incident caused by

Martin Houck, she was quickly rebuffed by Deputy Morgan. No written documents were given to the Pintars on May 12, 2006, by Deputy Morgan. R. 3-4, 816-17, 853, 861.

21. On August 20, 2006, the Houcks reported to Deputy Morgan that on June 11, 2006, Lewis J. Pintar hollered “there go the monkees [sic]” as they walked by the Pintar property. The Pintars have denied this accusation. R. 817, 854, 862, 1123.

22. Also on August 20, 2006, the Houcks reported to Deputy Morgan that on July 4, 2006, Lewis J. Pintar shook his finger at Darlene Houck and made derogatory remarks at a 4th of July flag-raising ceremony. The Pintars have denied this accusation as well. R. 817, 844, 854, 862-63, 1123.

23. Also on August 20, 2006, the Houcks reported to Deputy Morgan that Lewis J. Pintar “flipped off” Martin Houck and called him an “ass hole.” R. 4.

24. Without conducting an investigation, and without even contacting Lewis J. Pintar to hear his statements regarding the matter, Deputy Morgan issued a criminal summons for Lewis J. Pintar to be arrested. R. 4, 5, 818, 854, 862, 947-50, 956, 970, 980, 983, 985, 987, 992, 1135, 1292, 1294.

25. Deputy Morgan issued the criminal summons for arrest even though the allegations made by the Houcks, even if true, did not constitute a crime. R. 5, 829-30, 1292, 1294.

26. On November 2, 2006, Lewis J. Pinter was served with the criminal summons for arrest by substituted service. R. 5.

27. Pursuant to the criminal summons, Lewis J. Pinter appeared at the Utah County Jail where he was arrested for disorderly conduct pursuant to Utah Criminal Code §76-9-102, booked, fingerprinted, read his *Miranda* rights, had his “mug shot” taken. The “mug shot” and the details of the arrest were posted on the Utah County Jail website on the Internet. R. 1294.

28. The criminal proceedings were terminated on August 1, 2007, in favor of Lewis J. Pinter. R. 5-6, 818, 1164.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Trial Court incorrectly ruled that Deputy Morgan was not a policymaker for Utah County and therefore liability could not attach to Utah County. Under Utah law, Deputy Morgan has complete autonomy to make an arrest. This fact, along with the lack of exigency in this matter, establishes that Deputy Morgan is the sole policymaker for Utah County in the circumstances presented herein.

The Trial Court incorrectly ruled that Deputy Morgan is entitled to qualified immunity under the facts presented herein. The Trial Court abused its discretion in ignoring the fact that Deputy Morgan conducted no investigation in this matter. The Trial Court also abused its discretion in ignoring the fact that, even if the

allegations against Lewis J. Pinter were true, they did not constitute a crime. These facts, plus the facts and circumstances herein, establish that Deputy Morgan is not entitled to qualified immunity.

The Trial Court abused its discretion in denying the Pinters' Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint where the Pinters filed their Motion prior to the agreed-upon deadline and the Houcks had an opportunity to conduct discovery regarding the issues raised by the proposed Second Amended Complaint.

The Trial Court incorrectly granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants Martin and Darlene Houck. In doing so, the Trial Court erred in finding that, as a matter of law, the Pinters could not sustain their request for Declaratory Relief where the Pinters are requesting a Declaration from the Court that they can irrigate their property in the same manner as they have done for decades prior to the Houcks purchasing their property, and liability cannot attach if the irrigation water drains as it has historically done.

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