2010

Lewis J. Pintar and Afton B. Pintar v. Martin Houck,
Darlene Houck, Susan Morgan, County of Utah :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As pertaining to the Utah County Defendants, the Pintars appeal only the district court's dismissal of the Section 1983 claims of malicious prosecution and conspiracy against Deputy Morgan and Utah County based on the Pintars' failure to state a claim pursuant to Utah R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6).

The Pintars never made any factual allegations against Utah County in their complaint. While the Pintars agree that Section 1983 liability cannot attach to Utah County under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, the Pintars argue that Deputy Morgan's discretionary action of instituting disorderly conduct charges against Mr. Pintar makes Deputy Morgan a policymaker for Utah County. According to the Pintars, this makes Utah County liable.

The district court was correct in ruling that Deputy Morgan is not a policymaker. Such a ruling would be an incorrect interpretation of municipal liability and lead to the absurd result that all discretionary actions by police officers could be considered the creation of municipal policy. In turn, the municipality could then be held vicariously liable for a police officer's actions, the very thing prohibited by Section 1983.

Next, the Pintars argue that Deputy Morgan is not entitled to qualified immunity for the Section 1983 claims of malicious prosecution and conspiracy because the facts, as alleged in the complaint concerning the disorderly conduct charge against Mr. Pintar, do not constitute the crime of disorderly conduct. Thus, Deputy Morgan lacked probable cause to bring these charges. The district court never ruled on whether the facts constituted probable cause and instead, looked at the bigger picture: Whether the Pintars alleged facts showing that Deputy Morgan violated Mr. Pintar's constitutional rights and whether those facts would clearly establish that a reasonable officer would know that the conduct was clearly unlawful.

The Pintars offer no argument concerning the dismissal of the Section 1983 conspiracy claim against Deputy Morgan despite including "conspiracy" in the title of their argument section. Aplt. Br. at 24. The Pintars later argue the Section 1983 conspiracy claim as it pertains to Martin and Darlene Houck, for which the district court granted summary judgment. Aplt. Br. at 36. In the event the Court decides to consider the argument concerning the Houcks as it applies to Deputy Morgan, Deputy Morgan offers her argument as to why the district court was correct in dismissing the Section 1983 conspiracy claim under the motion to dismiss standard. Her argument is based on the Pintars' failure to allege anything more than

conclusory allegations that Deputy Morgan was involved in a “conspiracy” with Martin and Darlene Houck. Even with the benefit of the deposition testimony of Deputy Morgan and Tonya Houck, which occurred after they were dismissed from the lawsuit and therefore not considered by the district court in granting the motion to dismiss, the Pintars still failed to sustain a claim of conspiracy against the Houcks and by implication, Deputy Morgan.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE PINTARS FAILED TO STATE A SECTION 1983 CLAIM AGAINST UTAH COUNTY.

A. Introduction.

The trial court dismissed the Pintars’ 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims against Utah County pursuant to the Utah County Defendants’ Utah R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. The propriety of a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is a question of law. *Whipple v. American Fork Irrigation Co.*, 910 P.2d 1218 (Utah 1996). In ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court must construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and indulge all reasonable inferences in his favor. *Russell v. Standard Corp.*, 898 P.2d 263 (Utah 1995). Following this standard, the district court correctly concluded that the Pintars failed to allege a viable Section 1983 claim against Utah County.

In their complaint, the Pintars failed to allege that Utah County has an official policy, custom or deliberately indifferent training that led to a violation of Mr. Pintar's constitutional rights. The Pintars also failed to allege that Deputy Morgan acted pursuant to such official policy or custom, or that she received deliberately indifferent training from Utah County. Such allegations are the minimum requirement to sustain a Section 1983 claim premised on municipal liability.

After failing to make these allegations in the complaint and faced with a motion to dismiss, the Pintars then argued that 42 U.S.C. § 1983 liability must attach to Utah County because Deputy Morgan became a policymaker for Utah County when she made the discretionary decision to institute disorderly conduct charges against Mr. Pintar. The Pintars have alleged no facts in the complaint that Deputy Morgan is a policymaker, that she establishes the final governmental policy regarding such activity, or that her decisions are not reviewable by others. Even if the district court had concluded that Deputy Morgan was a policymaker, it would lead to the absurd result that all discretionary actions by police officers could be considered the creation of municipal policy and therefore, create a municipal liability on the basis of *respondeat superior* that Section 1983 was intended

to prevent. As explained below, the Pintars cannot prevail on their interpretation of what constitutes municipal liability.

B. The District Court Was Correct In Dismissing The Section 1983 Claim Against Utah County Because The Pintars Alleged No Facts In Their Complaint That Utah County Has Unconstitutional Policies, Customs, Or Provided Inadequate Training.

The Pintars agree with the district court ruling that 42 U.S.C. § 1983 liability cannot attach to Utah County for the actions of Deputy Morgan unless they meet the requirements of *Monell v. Department of Social Services*, 436 U.S. 658, 694 (1978). It is well settled that a governmental entity “may be held liable under Section 1983 only for its own constitutional or illegal policies and not for the tortious acts of its employees.” *Barney v. Pulsipher*, 143 F.3d 1299, 1307 (10th Cir. 1998) (citing *Monell*, 436 U.S. at 694). In *Monell*, the United States Supreme Court concluded that “Congress did not intend for local governments to be held liable for their employees’ actions unless the action that caused a constitutional tort was made pursuant to an official policy or procedure.” *Monell*, 436 U.S. at 691.

Accordingly, municipal liability may not be premised upon the employment of a person who has violated a plaintiff’s federally protected rights. *Id.* Instead, a municipal wrong is one resulting from the enforcement of a municipal policy or custom. *Monell*, 436 U.S. at 694. A municipal

custom or policy may be established through an officially promulgated policy, a custom or persistent practice, or deliberately indifferent training that results in the violation of plaintiff's federally protected rights. *City of Canton, Ohio v. Harris*, 489 U.S. 378, 385 (1989).

Therefore, a plaintiff suing a local government under Section 1983 for the acts of one of its employees must prove: (1) that a local government employee committed a constitutional violation, and (2) that a government policy or custom was the moving force behind the constitutional deprivation. *Myers v. Oklahoma Bd. Of County Comm'rs*, 151 F.3d 1313, 1316 (10th Circuit 1998) (citing *Monell v. Department of Social Services*, 436 U.S. 658, 694 (1978)). Furthermore, liability against a municipality under a theory of *respondeat superior* or vicarious liability is unavailable for claims asserted pursuant to Section 1983. *Monell*, 436 U.S. at 694.

The Pintars never allege in their complaint that Utah County has a policy or custom that was the moving force behind the constitutional deprivation, nor do they allege that Utah County provided inadequate training to Deputy Morgan. Rather, the Pintars seek to attach liability to Utah County by claiming that Deputy Morgan is a policymaker for Utah County. Not only is this allegation absent from their complaint, the Pintars

offer no valid support, either in fact or in law, to show that Deputy Morgan is a policymaker for Utah County.

C. The District Court Correctly Concluded, Based On The Facts Alleged In The Complaint And The Application Of The Law, That Deputy Morgan Is Not A Policymaker For Utah County.

The official policy of requirement of *Monell* was intended to distinguish acts of the municipality from acts of the municipality's employees, and thereby makes clear that municipal liability is limited to actions for which the municipality is actually responsible:

Not every decision by municipal officers automatically subjects the municipality to § 1983 liability. The fact that a particular official has discretion in the exercise of particular functions does not give rise to municipal liability based on an exercise of that discretion unless the official is also responsible, under state law, for establishing final governmental policy respecting such activity.

Pembaur v. City of Cincinnati, 475 U.S. 469 (1986). “Only those municipal officers who have final policymaking authority may by their actions subject municipal government to § 1983 liability.” *City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik*, 485 U.S. 112, 123 (1988). “Whether a particular official has final policymaking authority for purposes of § 1983 liability is a question of state law.” *Id.* “Simply going along with discretionary decisions made by subordinates is not “delegation to them of authority” to make city policy for purposes of imposing § 1983 liability upon municipality.” *Id.* at 130.

In determining whether a municipality can be liable under Section 1983 for an official's discretionary act, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals examines two factors in deciding whether the official is a final policymaker within his area of authority: (1) whether his or her discretionary decisions are constrained by general policies enacted by others, and (2) whether those decisions are reviewable by others. *Milligan-Hitt v. Board of Trustees of Sheridan County School District No. 2*, 523 F.3d 1219, 1228 (10th Cir. 1998). Deputy Morgan's decision was clearly restrained by general policies and her decision is reviewable by others.

First, the Pintars argue that it is within the discretion of a single law enforcement officer to determine what constitutes a lawful arrest and there is no review or constraint prior to an arrest to determine whether it is lawful. Under this interpretation, any other law enforcement officer must be considered a policymaker for the municipality. However, the Pintars do not cite to one case in which a court has determined that an officer's discretionary decision to arrest constitutes municipal policy.

Second, the Pintars correctly state that Deputy Morgan's authority is delegated to her by state law and then incorrectly argue that because her decision is not immediately reviewable before the execution of that decision, she is making policy for Utah County. It is true that the law does not

provide for an immediate review of each and every decision of a police officer prior to the execution of that decision. However, the law does provide a review of actions taken after that decision. In making such an argument, the Pintars are attempting to distinguish a “decision” from an “action” when no such distinction was made by the *Milligan-Hitt* court.

Further, the Pintars did not allege that Deputy Morgan handcuffed Mr. Pintar at his home and took him to jail. Instead, the Pintars allege that Deputy Morgan referred the matter to the Utah County Attorney’s Office for the institution of a criminal prosecution against Mr. Pintar for disorderly conduct. R. 8 and 209-210. The Pintars further allege that on October 30, 2006, Utah County Attorney Kay Bryson and Deputy Utah County Attorney Timothy Barnes received the one and a half page narrative prepared by Deputy Morgan and issued a criminal summons and filed an information against Mr. Pintar for disorderly conduct. R. 8 and 209. Based on the facts alleged by the Pintars and applicable law, the district court correctly stated that Deputy Morgan’s actions are constrained by other policies and her decisions are reviewable by others. Accordingly, the Pintars have failed to meet the *Milligan-Hitt* test and the district court’s decision must be affirmed.

Finally, the Pintars have not alleged that Deputy Morgan creates Utah County policy regarding arrests or that Utah County itself has a policy of

false arrest or a policy of intimidation. Rather, Deputy Morgan, as a subordinate, made a discretionary decision to arrest Mr. Pinta. Ruling that Deputy Morgan created Utah County policy in this instance would only lead to the result that all discretionary actions by police officers could be considered as the creation of municipal policy and thus make the municipality liable for the officers' actions under a theory of *respondeat superior*, the very thing that is prohibited for Section 1983 claims. The Pintars' argument is simply without merit and the dismissal of the Section 1983 claims against Utah County should be affirmed.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT DEPUTY MORGAN IS ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED IMMUNITY FROM MALICIOUS PROSECUTION AND CONSPIRACY UNDER SECTION 1983.

A. Introduction.

The trial court dismissed the Pintars' 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims against Deputy Morgan pursuant to the Utah County Defendants' Utah R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. The propriety of a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is a question of law. *Whipple v. American Fork Irrigation Co.*, 910 P.2d 1218 (Utah 1996). In ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court must construe the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and indulge all reasonable inferences in his favor. *Russell v. Standard Corp.*, 898 P.2d 263 (Utah 1995). Following this standard, the district court

correctly concluded that the Pintars failed to allege a viable Section 1983 claim against Deputy Morgan.

The Pintars argue that the district court failed to accept the factual allegations of the complaint as true in finding that Deputy Morgan is entitled to qualified immunity for the claims of malicious prosecution and conspiracy under Section 1983. More specifically, the Pintars argue that the facts alleged in the complaint do not constitute a charge of disorderly conduct against Mr. Pintar and that Deputy Morgan violated clearly established law. In order to defeat a claim of qualified immunity on a motion to dismiss, the Pintars must allege facts which, if taken as true, would defeat her qualified immunity claim. The district court correctly concluded Pintars have alleged no such facts in their complaint.

B. The Qualified Immunity Standard.

Qualified immunity “protects governmental officials from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate ‘clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.’” *Pearson v. Callahan*, 129 S.Ct. 808, 815 (2009) (citation omitted). To determine whether an official is entitled to qualified immunity, the court must consider the following: (1) whether, after viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the party asserting the injury, there was a

deprivation of a constitutional or statutory right; and, if so, (2) whether the right was clearly established at the time of the deprivation such that a reasonable official would understand his conduct was unlawful in the situation he confronted. *Saucier v. Katz*, 533 U.S. 194, 201 (2001).

To overcome the defense of qualified immunity, a plaintiff must establish that the defendants' actions violated a constitutional right and that the right was clearly established at the time of the actions. *Pearson*, 129 S.Ct. 808 at 815-16. It is within the court's discretion to consider either factor first. *Id.* at 818. The relevant dispositive inquiry in determining whether a right is clearly established is whether it would be clear to a reasonable officer that his or her conduct was unlawful in the situation he or she confronted. *Wilson v. Layne*, 526 U.S. 603, 615 (1999). If the law did not put the officer on notice that his or her conduct would be clearly unlawful, dismissal based on qualified immunity is appropriate. *Malley v. Briggs*, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986). In *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800 (1982), the court defined qualified immunity, holding that "governmental officials performing discretionary functions generally are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights." *Id.* at 818.

C. Deputy Morgan Is Entitled To Qualified Immunity From The Section 1983 Malicious Prosecution Claim.

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